
 

 

 

 

INCOME GENERATION SUB-

COMMITTEE 

 

AGENDA 

 

 Date: Wednesday, 28th July, 2021 

 Time: 7.00 pm 

 Venue: 
 

Guildhall 

 
 



2 

INCOME GENERATION SUB-COMMITTEE  
 

Information for Members of the Public 
 
Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street.  The nearest car park is 

Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, access 

to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt as you face the 

Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall. There is dedicated disabled parking 

space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings are held on the ground floor, which 

can be reached by using a lift.  If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility and you wish to 

attend a meeting, please telephone or email the officer mentioned below in advance and we will make 

any necessary arrangements to assist your visit. 

 

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public.  You have the right to inspect copies of 

Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents used in the 

preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the foot of each report. Part II 

of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' for which it is anticipated that 

the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither reports nor background papers are open to 

public inspection. 

 

Please note that this is a public meeting and members of the public and press are permitted to report 

on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio recording and 

providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the 

proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. Accordingly, the 

attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and broadcast. By choosing to 

attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your consent to being filmed or recorded and 

for any footage to be broadcast or published.   

 

Please note the Council records and live streams many of its meetings. These recordings are published 

on the relevant meeting pages of the Council’s website. A notice to this effect will be posted in the 

meeting room. If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council he/she will 

be deemed to have given their consent to being recorded and audio being published live to the 

Council’s website. The Chairman of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend 

recording, if in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if 

they consider that continued recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any 

statutory provision. 

 

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed 

for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the 

Agenda.  Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 p.m. on the last working day 

before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned below. 

 

If you have any general enquires or queries about this Agenda or require any details of background 

papers, further documents or information, or to discuss arrangements for the taking of photographs, 

film, video or sound recording please contact the Lead Officer, Julian Pugh, Democratic Services 

Administrator, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY.  Telephone: 01905 722027 (direct line); E-Mail Address:  

committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk. 

 

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 

minority languages.  Please contact the above named officer for further information. 

 

Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also available 

electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website Address: 

worcester.gov.uk 

 

 



3 

Income Generation Sub-Committee 
Wednesday, 28 July 2021 

 

Members of the Committee:- 

 

Chair: Councillor Steve Mackay (C) 
Vice-Chair: Councillor Jabbar Riaz (L) 

 
Councillor Chris Mitchell (C) 

Councillor Andy Stafford (C) 
 

Councillor Louis Stephen (G) 

 

 

  

C= Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-operative  
LD = Liberal Democrat 

 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC) 

 

1. Appointment of Substitutes  

 To receive details of any Members appointed to attend the meeting instead of a 
Member of the Sub-Committee. 

 

2. Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest. 

 

3. Public Participation  

 Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be allowed, each speaker being allocated a 

maximum of five minutes, for members of the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any matter on the Agenda or within the remit of the Sub-
Committee. 

 

4. Minutes  

Page(s): 1 - 2 

 Of the meeting held on 9th June 2021 to be approved and signed. 
 

5. Commercial Strategy  

Page(s): 3 - 34 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Shane Flynn, Corporate Director, Finance and Resources 

Tel: 01905 722536 

 That the Sub-Committee adopt the revised Commercial Strategy. 

 

6. Income Generation Strategy  

Page(s): 35 - 60 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Shane Flynn, Corporate Director, Finance and Resources 
Tel: 01905 722536 



4 

 That the Sub-Committee adopt the revised Income Generation Strategy as the 
framework for delivering against approved income generation targets in the 

Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 

7. Quarter 1 Performance Report For 2021/22  

Page(s): 61 - 70 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Joanna Payne, Corporate Policy and Strategy Officer 

Tel: 01905 722407 

 That the Income Generation Sub-Committee notes the Council’s Quarter 1 

performance for 2021/22. 
 

8. Any Other Business  

 Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of sufficient urgency as to warrant 

consideration. 
 

9. Item Involving the Disclosure of Exempt Information  

 The Sub-Committee are invited to pass the following resolution:- 
 

That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of information as defined in Schedule 

12A of the said Act. 
 

PART II 
(ITEM FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PRIVATE) 

 

10. Development Fund Proposal  

Page(s): 71 - 92 

Ward(s): Cathedral 

Contact Officer:  Shane Flynn, Corporate Director, Finance and Resources 
Tel: 01905 722536 

 To consider a proposal to make an offer for a property. 

 



INCOME GENERATION SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
9th June 2021 

 
Present:  
 

Councillor Steve Mackay in the Chair 

 Councillors Mitchell, Riaz (Vice-Chairman), 
Stafford and Stephen 

 
Officers: Mark Baldwin, Head of Finance 

Shane Flynn, Corporate Director – Finance  

and Resources 
 

 
1 Appointment of Substitutes  

 

None. 
 

2 Declarations of Interest  
 
None. 

 
3 Public Participation  

 
None. 
 

4 Minutes  
 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 11th March 2021 be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

5 Annual / Quarter 4 Performance Report For 2020/21  
 

The Committee considered the annual and quarter 4 performance report. The 
Corporate Director – Finance and Resources presented the report and highlighted 
the main points. Officers responded to questions from Members on detailed 

aspects of the report. 
 

The Corporate Director advised that a revised Commercial Strategy and Income 
Generation Strategy were being drawn up and would be produced for the July 

meeting. In the ensuing discussion, the Corporate Director advised that the 
former will make reference to the potential for a mixed tenure housing 
development. 

 
There was a discussion about the potential uses of the worn-out five-a-side 

pitches adjacent to Perdiswell Leisure Centre. Members suggested that there 
remains an opportunity for a Futsal centre on this site rather than a 
straightforward replacement of the current pitches. The Corporate Director 

explained that a report was scheduled for Policy and Resources Committee. This 
could be presented to Sub-Committee members by way of an informal briefing or 

a special meeting. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee notes the Council’s annual and 

quarter 4 performance for 2020/21. 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



 9th June 2021 2 

 
 

6 Bereavement Services  

 
The Sub-Committee received a report on progress made by Bereavement Services 

in enhancing the service provided to customers. The Head of Finance presented 
the main report and summarised the main points, in particular: 
 

 The Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant effect on the Service, causing 
an increase in the number of funerals and also restricting the number of 

mourners able to attend. 
 

 The Bereavement Service responded by the reducing the length of funeral 

services from 45 to 30 minutes and lowering the charges accordingly. 
 

 The crematorium at Fladbury continues to attract customers who were 
previously likely to use Astwood. 

 

 A new Business Development Manager was appointed in Bereavement 
Services in February 2020 with the aim of enhancing the Service’s offer. 

 
 Previously information on the Council’s bereavement services was held on 

the City Council’s website. A new standalone website has now been 

launched. 
 

 Memorial income has grown in recent years and it is hoped that new 
developments in this area will continue that trend. 

 
RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee note the progress made by 
Bereavement Services in enhancing the service provided to customers. 

 
7 Any Other Business  

 
Councillor Stephen asked whether Officers could investigate the feasibility of 
establishing sites for publicly accessible electric car charging points using energy 

from solar panels. This could be an income generation opportunity. Other 
Members questioned whether the risk outweighed the investment potential. 

Reference was also made to wider technological advances and how this would sit 
with the development of an Energy Strategy by the Council through the 
Environment Committee. In conclusion the Chair invited Councillor Stephen to 

undertake further investigation work before committing Officers to undertake a 
feasibility study. 

 
 
 

Duration of the meeting: 7.00p.m. – 8.00p.m. 
 

 
 
 

Chair at the meeting on 
28th July 2021 

Page 2



 

 
 

Report to: Income Generation Sub-Committee, 28th July 2021 
 

Report of: Corporate Director, Finance and Resources 
 

 
Subject: COMMERCIAL STRATEGY 

 
1. Recommendation 
 

1.1 That the Sub-Committee adopt the revised Commercial Strategy. 
 

2. Background      
 

2.1 Like all other Local Authorities in the UK, Worcester City Council’s finances are in 
transition from a funding model based primarily on grants from central government 
to one based on locally-generated income. The withdrawal of central funding has 

significantly outstripped growth in other income over the last few years. Between 
2010/11 and 2014/15 Central Government funding fell from £8.193m to £4.998m. 

The Revenue Support Grant element continued to decline, from £1.856m in 2015/16 
to zero by 2019/20. 

2.2 From 2019/20 onwards, funding for services has been almost entirely from business 

rates, Council Tax and income that the Council can generate from its operations, 
including commercial activities. 

2.3 The Council has recognised the need to support service delivery by improving 
efficiencies and generating income for a number of years and stated its intention to 
increase income, and the means by which this will be achieved, in the 2017/18 

budget papers published in October 2016. Income and Efficiency Plans are compiled 
and revised annually as part of budget-setting.  

 
2.4 The purpose of the Commercial Strategy is to set out the means by which this 

approach will be implemented. It does this by: 

 
 Demonstrating how a commercial approach to service delivery and income 

generating activities are compatible with, and actively support, the City Plan 
themes and the Council’s corporate values 

 Aligning the strategy with other related strategies designed to deliver the 

Council’s priorities 
 Setting out the current budget position to provide a baseline for measuring 

progress 
 Establishing a systematic approach to fee-setting to achieve an effective balance 

between commercial opportunity and social value 

 Setting out strategic actions for implementing the strategy  
 Interpreting the role of the Income Generation Sub-Committee as the vehicle for 

oversight of delivery of the strategy 
 Proposing the development of a resourcing plan to support funding bids and 

delivery of major Government-funded projects. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 5



 

  
2.5 Since the publication of the strategy in 2018 The department for Communities and 

Local Government (DCLG) and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) have consulted on changes to the Prudential Code on Capital 
Financing. Subsequently, HM Treasury has published guidance which prohibits Local 

Authorities from accessing PWLB loans where they have proposed acquisitions of 
assets for commercial purposes in their forward capital programmes. One major 

component of the commercial strategy – to acquire and use assets to generate 
income – has therefore been removed. 
 

2.6 This revision of the strategy reflects this change by deleting the risk assessment 
process for commercial investments, as this is no longer applicable, and refocusing 

on schemes which meet the Treasury’s approved criteria. These are projects which 
are for the following purposes: 

 
Service spending – the project supports delivery of services such as education, 

transport, public health, culture and related services  

Housing – this is a specific category because of the special accounting 

arrangements that apply to local authorities 

Regeneration – where the authority is addressing a market failure and/or is 

planning significant additional investment beyond the acquisition cost 

Preventative action – perhaps to prevent a ‘community use’ asset falling into 

disrepair 

Treasury Management – to allow authorities to refinance loans including internal 

borrowing (subject to that not being to get around the restrictions on borrowing for 

return) 

2.7 The revised strategy also recognises the Council’s success in attracting external 
funding, including match funding from partners, and sets out an approach to 

resourcing the new programme of activities that arise from this as well as 
participating in future bidding rounds.  
 

2.8 Finally, the strategy seeks to take advantage of the exception to the borrowing rules 
in relation to Housing. The Income generation Sub-committee has previously 

requested an addition to the commission of a Council-Led Housing Development 
approach sponsored by the Communities Committee. This addition is to consider the 

option of creating a Housing Development Company to progress opportunities for 
mixed-tenure housing development which will provide much-needed housing and 
also generate income sufficient to finance the projects. 

 
3. Preferred Option  

 
3.1 That a revised strategy is adopted by the Council to provide suitable guidelines for 

the development of commercial approaches to service delivery balanced with the 

need to maintain services at an appropriate level for those who cannot afford to pay.   

 

 

Page 4



 

4. Alternative Options Considered 
 

4.1 That the strategy focuses solely on income generation. The report to Cabinet in 
October 2016 referred specifically to income generation as a separate activity rather 
than referring to a commercial approach. The Commercial Strategy has been 

developed on this wider basis to support progress towards a more commercial 
outlook in respect of all service delivery – not just for services that are specifically 

designed to generate income. This reflects the Council’s need to manage its 
approach to budget setting in the light of the changes in the Local Government 
funding regime and also addresses the HM Treasury guidance on PWLB borrowing. 

5. Implications 
 

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

 
5.2 Legal and Governance Implications 

Under the Localism Act 2011, the Council has the powers to act as any reasonable 

person would do (the General Power of Competence). This extends to acting in a 
commercial way although the Council is prevented from commercial trading activities 

through section 95 of the Local Government Act 2003, unless it does so through a 
company set up for the purpose.  
 

5.3 Risk Implications 
The Strategy outlines the potential impact on income generating activities should 

specific assumptions within the MTFP not materialise as expected creating additional 
pressures. It also sets out a risk-based approach to property investments which can 
be adapted for other income-generating projects. Overall risks relating to the 

Council’s finances are reviewed regularly as part of the Corporate Risk Register and 
reported to The Policy and Resources Committee through the iterations of the MTFP. 

 
5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications 

The Strategy forms part of the suite of strategies published or under development 

that are designed to implement the City Plan and support the delivery of the 
Council’s objectives within the context of its corporate values. 

 
5.5 Equality Implications 

None arising directly from this report. 

 
5.6 Human Resources Implications 

The transition to a more commercial way of working will require a degree of culture 
change across the organisation. The commercial approach, as outlined in the 
strategy, is compatible with the Council’s values and its commitment to becoming an 

Excellent Council. Training and support for managers will be provided as part of the 
excellence programme but further training needs will be identified as necessary. 

 
5.7 Health and Safety Implications 

None arising directly from this report. 

 
5.8 Economic, Social and environmental Implications 

The Council can use its powers to engage directly in shaping the City and supporting 
initiatives which contribute to the health and wellbeing of Worcester’s residents, 

businesses and visitors. These powers can be used both to engage in activities which 
in themselves generate income, such as loans to third parties to support service 

Page 5



 

delivery, and to use income generated by services to support other activities and 
capital developments. Effective procurement procedures are also necessary to 

ensure that local companies have the opportunity to engage in bidding for Council 
contracts, which, in turn, drives efficiencies in council budgets and operations by 
regular revision of working arrangements. 

 
 

Ward(s):   All 
Contact Officer: Shane Flynn – Tel: 01905 722536 

Email shane.flynn@worcester.gov.uk 

Background Papers: None  
 

Page 6



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMMERCIAL STRATEGY 
2021 – 2024 

 

July 2021 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



 

 

Introduction – what is the purpose of the Commercial Strategy? 

Like all other Local Authorities in the UK, Worcester City Council’s finances have 

been in transition from a funding model based primarily on grants from central 

government to one based on locally-generated income. From 2019/20 onwards, 

revenue funding for services has been almost entirely from business rates, Council 

Tax and income that the Council can generate from its operations, including 

commercial activities.  

However, there have been a number of changes since the first version of the 

strategy was published in January 2018: 

 The Government has increasingly turned to forms of financing which shape 

future activities through access to capital, such as the Cultural Development 

Fund, the Future High Streets Fund and the Towns Fund, and short-term 

access to revenue funds, such as Homelessness Funding, Brexit Funding and 

Section 32 grants which target support for local businesses 

 

 The Government and CIPFA have raised concerns about local authorities 

buying property for investment purposes and the Treasury has ruled that 

Councils cannot access Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) financing if they 

have such proposed purchases in their future capital plans 

 

 The disruption caused by the Covid-19 pandemic from March 2020 has had a 

significant impact on the macro-economy which will have a long-term effect on 

the development of the High Street and local economic growth.   

Through its Income Generation Strategy and Income and Efficiency Plans, the 

Council set targets to achieve sufficient cost efficiencies and income generation to 

enable a balanced budget despite the reduction in central government grant. Relying 

primarily on income from local sources, the Council has achieved an outturn within 

3% of the annual budget in 2018/19 and 2019/20, as shown in Figure 1. The outturn 

for 2020/21 was distorted by the Covid-19 impact and the related funding from 

outside bodies and is therefore excluded.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



 

 

 

Figure 1: Revenue outturn 2016/17 to 2019/20 

  

It can be seen from the chart that the trend is moving from a surplus to a deficit 

position and there is therefore a need to continue to improve financial standing to 

meet the demands of the Medium Term Financial Plan. At the Council meeting of 

February 2021, a balanced budget was set for 2020/21 by drawing on reserves but a 

deficit was forecast for each of the subsequent years, as shown in Table 1: 

Table 1: MTFP 2021/22 - 2025/26 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Forecast Draft Net Budget 11,975 11,480 11,905 12,444 13,085 

            

Grant & Taxation Financing           

One-off Covid related support 863 0 0 0 0 

New Homes Bonus for Budget 447 203 0 0 0 

Business Rates 3,697 3,769 3,842 3,919 3,997 

Council Tax 6,292 6,487 6,683 6,842 7,044 

Council Tax Surplus (35) (35) (35) 0 0 

Net Transfer (to)/from Reserves 712 0 0 0 0 

Forecast Budget Financing 11,975 10,423 10,490 10,761 11,041 

  
    

  

Forecast Budget GAP 0 1,057 1,415 1,683 2,043 

 

To help address these projected deficits, an Income and Efficiency plan forms part of 

the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) which is reviewed annually. This includes 

elements of increased income as well as reduced costs.  

The City Plan 2016-21 is due for revision alongside this Commercial Strategy. There 

will undoubtedly be changes in direction, reflecting the changes in the City and the 

wider environment that have taken place since 2016 and the different approaches in 

funding that have been identified above. The Commercial Strategy needs to reflect 

-700

-200

300

800

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Forecast Year-end Budget Surplus/Deficit 

 
2018/19

2017/18

2016/17

Budget

2019/20

Page 9



 

 

these changes to help ensure that there are sufficient revenue streams to deliver the 

programme of activities flowing from the renewed City Plan. 

The Council – if it is to remain committed to providing the full range of services at the 

level of standards expected by local communities – will need to be more efficient in 

its operations, making the most of technology and flexible working practices, and be 

increasingly reliant on income from various sources. To do this it needs to continue 

to embed the working practices of a commercial organisation, whereby we view the 

delivery of services and functions in a business-like way and seek out new 

opportunities to generate income to support the services that our communities want 

to receive.  

 

Alignment with the City Plan and Council Strategies 

The City Plan is the core document that drives the Council’s business. While the plan 

is due for review the core aim will remain central to the Council’s thinking: 

“Building a successful future on 2000 years of history” 

To help achieve this successful future, the Council has identified five themes and set 

a number of key outcomes for each theme. Figure 2 summarises, with a few current 

examples, how the five themes can be supported by a more commercial approach to 

service delivery and by the development of new services on a commercial basis. 

These examples show how income-generating activities and ways of working that 

reduce costs can also enhance the offer that the Council makes to potential 

customers who wish to receive, or may require, new services. 

Figure 2: Delivering the City Plan through commercial activity 

City Plan Theme Existing commercial activity Potential new activity 

Stronger and 
Connected 
Communities 

Bereavement Services.  
Use of Council facilities and 
Community Centres for events. 
Licencing fees. 

Assistive technology.  
New memorialisation offers. 
The Arches Worcester facilities and 
festivals. 
Support for skills. 
Civica contract renewal. 

   

A Prosperous City Planning applications. Provision of incubator units. 
 Pre-planning app. Assessment. Towns Fund – assets.  
 Bulky waste collection . 

Taxi licencing.  
Car parking. 

FHSF – assets. 
Electric charging points. 
Advertising space. 

   
   

A Healthy and Active 
City 

Leisure Services Contract . 
Garden waste collection. 
Allotments. 

Racecourse development. 
Futsal. 
All weather Pitch. 

Page 10



 

 

Football pitch hire.  
Loans to third parties 
(Hockey/Swimming Pool/FA). 

Riverside development. 
Freedom Leisure contract renewal 

   

A Heritage City for the 
21st Century 

Community events. 
Worcester Festival. 
Commandery. 
Guildhall room hire. 

Increased lettings for 
charities/community functions. 
Release MAG for museum/art gallery. 

   

Sustaining and 
Improving Our Assets 

Commercial lettings. 
Leases. 

Riverside commercial development.  
Museums and Gallery management . 
Use of space for advertising. 
TIP and FHSF opportunities. 

   

 

Figure 2 also demonstrates that a commercial approach is not incompatible with 

progressive policy-making. Underpinning the City Plan is a commitment to improving 

Worcester as a destination and as a place to live, work and spend leisure time. By 

providing services that are self-sustaining and by generating income in excess of 

direct need, the Council can build capacity for regeneration and increase service 

delivery to target groups. Commercialism is being pursued in order to provide the 

best possible services for Worcester’s residents within budgetary constraints.  

At times, balancing commercialism and social purpose may throw up ethical 

dilemmas – such as the desire to generate income from properties and the desire to 

support tenants facing financial pressures – which will need to be considered on an 

individual basis. However, the core aim of the strategy is to develop approaches 

which further social as well as commercial objectives. 

The Commercial Strategy also overlaps with city development programmes which 

have been published since 2018/19. These include: 

 The Masterplan – which maps out zones of development as priority areas for 

improvement in defined areas of the City 

 

 The Arches Worcester – utilising £5.4m of Arts Council and local match 

funding to rejuvenate the arches supporting the railway line from Foregate 

Street to Croft Road and delivering a programme of festivals and related 

cultural events 

 

 The Future High Street Fund, which is providing up to £17.9m (as part of a 

£29m investment programme) to rejuvenate Angel Place and the nearby area 

 

 The Towns Fund, which is bringing in another £19.6m in capital investment 

and which has already drawn in an additional £1m in accelerated funding to 

support three specific projects. 

Page 11



 

 

 

 Green Homes Grant and related funding of £1.1 which enables affordable 

warmth initiatives to be delivered in 160 homes in Worcester.  

Government-led investment programmes restrict the types of activity that can be 

undertaken but provide the opportunity for the Council to provide services, and 

generate income in different ways, including using capital projects to support 

revenue activities, such as project management, ongoing support for facilities, letting 

of spaces as well as capital investment through which capital receipts can be 

recycled into new developments. Maximising the value of these developments will 

require a commercial approach and increased capacity in terms of expertise. 

Many of the existing commercial activities have been incorporated into service plans. 

They also form part of the Council’s Business Plan which was first produced in 

2019/20 as a three-year rolling programme. The plan includes a programme of 

efficiencies alongside business income growth initiatives and is designed to develop 

a progressive approach to service delivery alongside the Council’s core values of: 

 Committed People 

 Customer Focused 

 Creative Council 

 Good Governance 

 Strong performance 

These values are consistent with a commercially-minded approach to service 

delivery and income generation, as shown in Figure 3: 

Figure 3: Our corporate values and commercial approaches 

Corporate Values Commercial values 

Committed People Sustaining delivery to high standards and finding new ways of 
delivering to attract more customers  

Customer Focused Thinking of the people of Worcester as customers who will be 
prepared to pay for good service at the right price 

Creative Council Identifying new income-generating opportunities, new services 
and new projects and finding ways to make these real, 
including bidding for grants 

Good Governance Aligning costs to income so that the business case for 
investment is robust and that trading activities are on a sound 
legal basis  

Strong performance Generating more income from existing streams means 
sustaining services, while achieving delivery in advance of 
expectations secures continued buy-in from customers  

 

Other relevant strategies are aligned with the Income Generation Strategy. These 

include a Customer Services Strategy which seeks to put customers at the heart of 

our thinking about services, an ICT strategy which will enhance our capacity to 

Page 12



 

 

deliver better services and Capital and Asset Management Strategies which will help 

marshal our resources in a sustainable way. All of these are forward-looking 

documents which are designed to provide a framework for effective service delivery 

so that we can ensure that every operational activity is aligned to our corporate goals 

and the overarching aims of the City Plan, while exemplifying the corporate values.  

While each of these strategies addresses directly a specific component of the 

business and, through this, supports the City Plan, there are numerous overlapping 

elements. Taken together they form a complete approach to shape and steer the 

future direction of the Council in order to achieve the aims of the Plan and establish 

the Council on a sound financial footing. 

 

Where are we now? 

The Council has recognised the need to support service delivery by generating 

income for a number of years and stated its intention to increase income in the 

2017/18 budget papers published in November 2016. 

Current budgets for income from Fees and Charges are shown in Appendix A. 

These amount to £8.5m in 2021/22, or 37% of budgeted service costs. Clearly, 

income from bereavement services and car parking are dominant strands but 

opportunities exist to strengthen income from other existing sources, such as trade 

and garden waste collection, where the Council is able to influence demand through 

targeted approaches. 

Other income includes £434k in respect of the Freedom Leisure contract and £1.13m 

for property rentals, including markets. The latter are considered as part of the Asset 

Management Strategy which identifies the rationale for holding assets – whether for 

commercial or social purposes or for a mixture of both – and target rates of return 

according to asset category.  

To understand the potential drivers for increasing income in purely financial terms, 

high level risk assessments can be used to show the level of increased demand for 

income to match reduced cash flows. Table 2 shows the impact of potential changes 

in the MTFP and thereby highlights the increased income that the Council will need 

to generate if it is to remain on course to achieve a balanced MTFP. This shows that 

while the overall impact on income demand is slight, changes can have a significant 

effect on specific controllable streams. This is exemplified using the garden waste 

income stream.  

 

 

 

Page 13



 

 

 

 

Table 2 : Risk assessment: impact of MTFP changes on income demand 

 Change £ per 
annum 

Increase in 
income 
required 
(overall) 

Increase in 
income 
required 
(garden 
waste) 

Increase in salary costs to 3% for 
all years  

1% 82,000 0.9% 17% 

Increase in appeals/reduction in 
business rates income 

2% 74,000 0.8% 15% 

Failure to achieve projected 
savings in income and efficiency 
plan 

25% 178,000 2.0% 36% 

 

Table 2 reflects only income cash flows and does not take into account any increase 

in costs that may be required to generate additional income. The Council is not 

currently in a position to understand the relevant costs associated with each activity 

other than through allocation of direct and indirect costs to related cost centres. A 

more direct relationship between costs and income needs to be achieved. 

A detailed fee-setting approach was adopted as part of this strategy to promote best 

practice and create a stronger understanding of the relationship between charging 

regimes and the marginal costs of delivery to provide the relevant services. This is 

used as part of the drive to secure and increase income from existing sources. The 

approach is attached at Appendix B and represents best practice. 

One specific area of current income generation that is subject to change is income 

from investments. The Council is currently holding £15.5m in short term cash 

investments which generate a modest rate of return. In 2021/22 this is anticipated to 

be £55,000 at a rate of approximately 0.05% percent. There is potential to increase 

this income by transferring some of these funds into a Real Estate Investment Trust 

(REIT), which can generate returns in the region of 2% to 3%. This is a low-risk form 

of property investment focused on investment in a mixed portfolio of commercial 

properties held in a pooled fund, similar to the Council’s existing investment in the 

CCLA fund, and would diversify the Council’s investment portfolio. 

Further options for increased income from property investments will be explored as 

part of this strategy but this is subject to the Treasury ruling that Council’s cannot 

access PWLB loans to finance any part of the capital programme if it intends to 

invest in property with the sole intention of generating a return, whether that 

investment is funded from PWLB loans or not. 

Page 14



 

 

The Treasury document Public Works Loan Board: future lending terms published in 

November 2020 and related guidance, does not rule out the acquisition of assets 

from which Councils may ultimately derive income if the acquisition is not primarily 

for that purpose. However, there are a number of limitations which significantly 

restrict the capacity to derive longer-term income from the asset and, where this is 

achieved, that the income should be ring-fenced to support the specific project and 

not used to help deliver services generally.  

The Treasury will allow access to PWLB lending for the following purposes: 

Service spending – the project supports delivery of services such as education, 

transport, public health, culture and related services  

Housing – this is a specific category because of the special accounting 

arrangements that apply to local authorities 

Regeneration – where the authority is addressing a market failure and/or is planning 

significant additional investment beyond the acquisition cost 

Preventative action – perhaps to prevent a ‘community use’ asset falling into 

disrepair 

Treasury Management – to allow authorities to refinance loans including internal 

borrowing (subject to that not being to get around the restrictions on borrowing for 

return) 

Appendix C sets out project criteria that will be applied to property acquisitions as 

they are identified as part of the above schemes. The emphasis is on identifying 

projects which meet the criteria but are capable of making a return to cover the costs 

incurred and bring in secondary income such as business rates or Council Tax or 

inward investment. 

The specific exemption for Housing means that the Council is in a position to support 

housing developments. One current strand of activity is to acquire short-term 

accommodation which reduces the costs of bed-and-breakfast and other expensive 

alternatives that result in un-recoverable Housing Subsidy costs. The Communities 

Committee is commissioning an assessment of opportunities for Council-led housing 

development which will include consideration of the establishment of a Council-

owned Housing Development Company for this purpose.   

 

Strategic approach 

To put itself in a position to balance income and costs effectively, the Council will 

need to focus on five areas: 

Page 15



 

 

 Being commercially minded in the way we do things, so that we are aware of 

unit costs and income in all service areas and aim to increase the margin 

between direct costs and income wherever possible/appropriate 

 

 Maximising existing income streams, in balance with customer needs and 

market conditions 

 

 Identify new services that are self-sustaining through income streams and 

establish ways of achieving them 

 

 Increase investments – for example by developing our range of investment 

vehicles 

 

 Supporting growth within the city to achieve growth in Business Rates, 

Council Tax and footfall through securing external investment – for example 

through mixed-tenure housing developments. 

Each of these is addressed in Figure 4 overleaf which sets out planned approaches 

and identifies progress measures. 

Page 16



 

 

Figure 4: Planned approaches to making services self-sustaining through income generation 

Activity area Planned approach Progress measurement 

Being commercially minded in the 
way we do things so as to 
increase the gap between costs 
and income 
 

Establish a trading account approach to 
income generating areas 
 

 For each known income strand, all 
relevant costs are identified. 

 Contribution to overheads and capital 
requirement is established and targets 
set to maintain and/or increase over time. 

Maximising existing income 
streams, in balance with customer 
needs 
 

Implement criteria for fee charging and review 
fees regularly  
 

 Annual review of fees and charges 
approved at Committee.  

 Set target rates of return on commercial 
investments.    

Identify new services that are self-
sustaining through income 
streams and establish ways of 
achieving them 
 

Use the Income Generation Sub Committee 
to review ideas and act as a project gateway 
 

 List of potential opportunities identified.  

 Workstream planned to bring forward 
opportunities for consideration.  

 Business Cases developed.  

 Business case owners identified.  

Improve returns on investments to 
maximise value of cash holdings – 
for example by investing in 
property funds 
 

Set aside investment funds or borrowing 
requirement to invest as far as regulations 
and our risk appetite allows (Appendix C 
includes project selection criteria) 
 

 Acquisitions meet Treasury criteria to 
support council aims and income 
sufficient only to meet costs.  

 Borrowing needs identified and capital 
financing arrangements in place in line 
with regulations 

Supporting growth within the city 
to attract CT and Business rates 
 

Continue to bid for capital and revenue 
programmes to support regeneration and 
inward investment opportunities 
 

 Proposals for mixed-tenure housing 
developments in place 

 Programme of activities established.  

 Project owners identified and timelines 
recorded on Pentana for monitoring  
 

P
age 17



 

 

Key to successful delivery of the strategy will be the development of an 

entrepreneurial culture which can be measured by the achievement of six 

characteristics of commercial organisations. These are set out in Figure 5 overleaf. 

The Council is already in a strong position to adopt these characteristics as they are 

compatible with the five values of the organisation set out in Figure 3. These, in turn, 

support the drive to become an Excellent Council and form part of the wider 

organisational change programme that is underway. Training and development 

activities derived from these initiatives can also be used to support the transition to 

commercially-oriented approaches.  

An additional dimension to this approach which has developed since the first version 

of this strategy is the need  for capacity to identify opportunities to bid for external 

funds, to produce those bids and then to initiate projects once bids have been 

approved and grant agreed. This requires: 

 Forward planning and horizon scanning to identify potential bidding 

opportunities 

 Timely access to specialist consultants and advisers that can support the 

bidding process, particularly for technical requirements 

 A bid development fund where such funding is not provided or is insufficient 

 A resource planning method to ensure that agreed programmes can be 

quickly moved from approval to delivery stage. 

To date the Council has been very successful in securing external funding for 

programmes sponsored by Government. To maintain this, it is necessary to build 

revenue consideration into bids to ensure that the full revenue implications are 

recognised prior to submission of the bid and that there are resources for project 

management. A resource plan for programmes agreed at the date of this strategy 

needs to be developed to support this aim. 

 

 

Page 18



 

 

Figure 5: Characteristics of successful commercial organisations 

Communicates 
effectively 

Is forward thinking 
and plans 
accordingly 

Adapts easily Makes use of skills 
and talents 

Listens to 
customers and 
stakeholders 

Understands risks 
and acts to address 
them 

The sharing of ideas and 
information helps to 
promote best practice 
across the organisation by 
sharing information about 
successes achieved as 
well as any issues that 
arose and their solutions. 
Analysis of this 
information can play a 
crucial part in the 
successful development 
of new projects.   

A successful 
commercial 
organisation is always 
looking for new areas 
and opportunities in 
which to expand so 
that income can be 
increased whilst at the 
same time, improving 
service delivery 
 

Organisations that 
adapt to new ways 
of working and 
seek out new areas 
of work are more 
likely to survive 
than those 
organisations that 
always do what 
they have always 
done 
 

Successful 
organisations identify 
entrepreneurs and 
give them room and 
scope to flourish 
 

A successful 
commercial 
organisation needs to 
be open and receptive 
to new ideas and 
issues raised from a 
variety of areas. 
 

Successful commercial 
organisations have 
contingency plans in 
place to deal with 
issues that may arise in 
the future. 
 

P
age 19



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

Income generating services 2021/22 compared to 2017/18 

Fees & Charges  

 Annual 

Budget 

2017/18       

Annual 

Budget 

2021/22 

   £000 £000 

Facilities - Room Letting Fees  (69) (90) 

Museums  0 (82) 

Revs & Bens - Court Fees/Summonses  (252) (252) 

 - Environmental Health and Licencing  (280) (361) 

 - Bereavement Services   (1,776) (1,590) 

 - Parking Income  (3,641) (3,900) 

Community Services  (5,697) (5,851) 

 - Garden Waste Collection  (341) (491) 

 - Trade Waste Collection  (638) (836) 

 - Open Spaces  (60) (58) 

 - Other Fees and Charges  (16) (25) 

Operational Services  (1,055) (1,410) 

 - Planning Application Fees  (353) (425) 

 - Local Land Charges  (193) (113) 

 - Pre-Application Fees  (39) (35) 

 - Permitted Development Fees  (2) (4) 

 - Other Fees and Charges  (25) (24) 

Development Management   (611) (600) 

Building Control - Fees  (110) (110) 

Housing - Licencing Income  (102) (152) 

Fees & Charges - Services  (7,896) (8,547) 

 

      

Page 20



 

 

  Appendix B 

 

WORCESTER CITY COUNCIL CHARGING STRATEGY  

1 Introduction and Context  

There is a range of specific powers which enable charging. The most important of these is 

Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003 which gives a specific power to charge for 

discretionary services where "the Authority is authorised... to provide a service" but not under a 

duty to provide it and the person receiving the service has agreed to its provision. 

 

There is a restriction on the amount of charge which can be levied under section 93, to the effect 

that taking one financial year with another, income should not exceed the cost of provision. 

Although the recovery period has been recognised as three years, there is flexibility in the legislation 

about how the costs are calculated. Costs would normally be assessed in accordance with proper 

accounting methods and Government guidance but can include all overheads including corporate 

and democratic core costs and the cost of assets required to deliver the service. It is also worth 

remembering that charges could be set at different levels for different people. It would be quite 

lawful to charge nothing for some beneficiaries of the service and a higher charge for others. 

 

Like many other Local Authorities nationwide, Worcester City Council has traditionally reviewed and 

agreed charges and prices for activities and services annually in line with inflation and increases in 

income targets within the budget setting process, with some ad hoc benchmarking. There has been 

some fluctuation over the last four to five years, largely due to budget pressures or the results of 

benchmarking.  

Increasingly pressure has come upon non-statutory services to justify levels of subsidy and spend of 

the public pound in their service areas. National data demonstrates a wide variation in charges 

between Councils, some of which may reflect legitimate differences in the quality of facilities or local 

market conditions. However, it may also be due to the issues not having been examined other than 

for budget setting purposes.  Since the Value for Money Audits carried out by the Audit Commission 

in 1999 Local Authorities have been guided through a range of documents1 to set fees and charges 

based on research and benchmarking.  A Mori survey in 2010 demonstrated that 33% of residents 

support local authorities selling services locally and 64% of the public support differential charging. 

The Mori report makes it clear that the public is not averse to paying for services where that 

protects the front line. This means that there are opportunities for councils to review charging 

strategies and look at new ways of generating income to help balance the books in a way which the 

public will understand.  

                                                           
1
 The Price is Right? - Charging for Public Services - Audit Commission 1999; Enterprising Councils Getting the 

Most from Trading and Charging - Local Government Association 2012; Pricing and Concessions in Leisure 
Briefing 12-55 2012 – Association of Public Service Excellence; Positively Charged 2008 – Audit Commission 
Local Govt. Information Unit; 2010 MORI research project ‘A Perfect Storm Revenue and Charging’ for BDO 

Page 21



 

 

This strategy seeks to interpret the guidance referenced above to take a strategic approach to the 

annual setting of fees and changes through the use of a range of research to inform the process.   

The objective is for Services to ensure that charges can be used to their full potential to help the 

service area to meet overall Council objectives and priorities. A strategic approach to charging also 

aims to clarify both the decision-making process and criteria, reflecting information available.  

There is a need to ensure that charges support the following:  

 Targeting subsidy at top priorities – as recommended by the Audit Commission low priority 

services should be able to have a higher proportion of their costs recovered allowing the 

Council to target its subsidy at priority users  

 Improving Services – charging can be used to make service better, or increase and manage 

access  

 Delivering Corporate Priorities – to support key strategies; plans and priorities 

 Generating Income – improved cost recovery can support services under budget pressures, 

while consideration of introducing charges for services which are currently not charged for 

demonstrates a valid approach  

 Managing Demand for Services – sensitive use of peak or premium pricing can support 

targeted access to services  

 Communicating a Message – an image of quality or something of value can influence how 

people use a service, and the benefit they get from it  

2 Terms of Reference  

The key principles of the charging strategy are aligned to the Worcester City Council Charging Policy: 

 Income optimisation through the annual review of fees and charges 

 Cost recovery should be as near to 100% as the market can reasonably bear 

 Aligned where necessary to the costs associated with providing the service 

Subsidy should be targeted to those known to be on a low income or within a priority group. 

In order to set out a strategic approach to charging for Worcester City Council services, the following 

areas need to be reviewed:  

 Current fees and charges  

 Previous fees and charges  

 Provision by competitors or other sectors such as private provision and associated charging  

 Annual income and income targets 

 Current service expenditure 

 Current subsidy and % recovery rates 

 Current concessions  

 Usage/participation levels and user/customer data – where known  

 Contract specifications for third party providers  

 Alignment of service to corporate objectives and the Worcester City Plan 

 Any current annual registration/memberships and joining/induction requirements  

Page 22



 

 

This allows a reference base and framework for review to be established which will support the 

annual review of charging in all service areas.  

This strategy will be reviewed every three years.  

3 Council Priorities 

Worcester City Plan  

The City Council has set out five main priorities in its City Plan 2016 – 21: 

1. Stronger and Connected Communities 

2. A Prosperous City 

3. A Healthy and Active City 

4. A Heritage City for the 21st Century 

5. Sustaining and Improving our Assets 

The Charging Strategy supports all of these themes as it seeks to achieve a balance between 

subsidised services provided for those that need them and charged-for services at a level that 

customers can afford and/or are prepared to pay. At a strategic level the Council is required to 

achieve value for money in the delivery of services and charging strategies are an important test of 

this concept: a decline in turnover may be an indication that the price offered for the service is 

considered too high by customers, while providing services at a subsidised rate does not represent 

‘value for money’ for all Council Tax payers who will be bearing a share of the subsidised cost of a 

service that they do not choose to use. Pricing strategies must therefore seek to achieve an 

appropriate balance between maximising income and supporting local needs. This is explored in 

more detail in the Council’s Commercial Strategy.   

4. Service Elements  

Community Services  

There is a mixed economy picture emerging within the city, with some services such as leisure, 

sports, play and arts development outsourced to Freedom Leisure through a 10 year contract and 

other services being delivered through a shared service such as heritage.  Many private and not for 

profit organisations also deliver services such as parking, and community events alongside services 

delivered directly by the City Council.  

Key service areas, in terms of income generation and cost recovery levels, for consideration are:  

 Parks and Open Spaces 

 Community Events 

 Car Parking 

 Bereavement Services 

 Allotments 

 Licensing and Regulatory Services (through Worcestershire Regulatory Service) 

 Heritage Services (through the Worcestershire Museums Service) 

 Leisure Centres, arts and sports development (through Freedom Leisure) 

Page 23



 

 

This charging strategy seeks to interpret Worcester’s City Plan priorities through the promotion 

of a pricing structure and approach which will uphold in particular the priority of reducing 

inequalities and improving the quality of life. 

Operational Services 

There is equally a mixed economy in this area of services too in terms not of service outsourcing 

but in terms of local choice particularly in trade waste where there is private operator 

competition and unlicensed operators too. 

Key service areas, in terms of income generation and cost recovery levels, for consideration are:  

 Bulky waste collection 

 Trade Waste collection. 

Other Services 

Planning income is constrained by national guidance around the level of fees that can be set. 

This is designed to increase the Council’s capacity to progress planning applications which 

should, in turn lead to increased income overall. There is more flexibility around fee setting for 

pre-application work.  

More limited income streams could be expanded by appropriate fee-setting regimes. These 

include: 

 Room letting at Council-owned facilities 

 Housing - Licence fees  

 Building Control fees. 
 

5.  The Price Cycle 

Designing the charge  

Improved information will allow Members to evaluate the impact of charges and develop a 

better understanding of both customers and the market place. When setting the charge the 

following approach shows the points of the price cycle that help the charge to be designed. 

Annual reviews of charging will follow "the charging decision" process – how the decision is 

made and what factors are taken into account; "an informed approach" – what market 

intelligence and other management data are used to inform the decision; and "designing the 

charge" – considering if proper account taken of market intelligence and management 

information. 

(1) Establish the principles – this is why there is a charge for a service, and if market rate would 

be charged, or if this is a priority service for subsidy, e.g. a charge for the hire of a football pitch 

is made as this is a service used out of choice by some residents, not everyone, it is not a service 

the Authority has to provide. Equally Central Government does not legislate for free access; but 

the charge does not recover the full cost of providing the pitch because the Council wants to 

Page 24



 

 

support people to be physically active, and stay healthy supporting the delivery of the City Plan 

objective of a Healthy and Active City.  

(2) Join up objectives with charging – match the reason for charging a market rate; achieving 

full cost recovery or subsidising activities with Council objectives, e.g. a charge for the fixed 

penalty notices for environmental enforcement delivers the Council's objective of a Heritage 

City for the 21st Century. The nature of Council services means that setting objectives for 

charging is complicated by competing priorities e.g. cost recovery against health benefits. 

(3) Set targets for the charges – setting targets for the amount of the cost of a service to be 

recovered from a charge, e.g. if it costs the Council £60 per hour to provide a football pitch, a 

charge of £31.50 to aim to recover 50% of the true cost.  

(4) Design the charges – research or benchmarking through comparisons2 what customers will 

pay, what they pay elsewhere.  Understand stakeholder and service user information through 

participation; satisfaction; and views about value.  Set charges for members to agree, e.g. other 

local authorities charge up to £40 for a football pitch of high quality, with some charging as little 

as £25, Worcester may recommend a charge in line with the target for cost recovery within the 

service area.  

(5) Make the charging decision – the range of charges is recommended to Members to agree 

any recommended changes.  

(6) Monitor and evaluate – participation in activities is monitored with satisfaction surveys and 

income levels against targets, to evaluate if the charge is working, e.g. football participation is 

maintained or increases, and footballers respond that value for money is good, or that the 

reasons for booking cancellations is not related to charges - the charge is likely to be correct.  

(7) Feedback to strategic principles following annual review - if there is a need to improve 

facilities or services income from fees and charges can be used, if supported, e.g. football 

pitches need better drainage to stop matches being cancelled, clubs are surveyed to see if they 

will pay an additional £5 per hire to cover this work being done during the off-season. If this 

approach is supported and a proposal is agreed with Members, income generated to improve 

facilities, above and beyond the normal maintenance that is provided. 

At each point in charge design the following should be established:  

 Clear objectives – what the charge is expected to achieve  

 Clarity over objectives review – a framework for reviews to understand subsidies  

 Joining up charges – avoiding unintentional significant inconsistencies across the City  

 Exemptions and concession clarity and consistency – ensuring that where services are 

free these have been considered, that any reduction in charges are properly targeted  

                                                           
2
 Benchmarking comparisons of charges between similar authorities; similar services; or neighbouring areas 

Page 25



 

 

 Monitoring of the impact of charges – checking that participation changes, or low usage 

are not in the main due to charges, by conducting regular surveys of customers and 

those electing to not to purchase these services (where possible) 

 

6. The Worcester Approach – Strategy Deployment 

Service managers will deploy the strategy using a standard template (Annex A) for annual 

completion and the following approach for key elements: 

Market Intelligence  

 Do we know the users? – Who is using the service and why, established through surveys, 

and who is not using services and why  

 Are user and non-user reactions to charges and marketing assessed? – Understanding 

through research why customers start and stop using services, through regular surveys  

 Are target groups identified and monitored? – Checking that services are used by the 

Council's priority groups from surveys or user information, and that this then influences 

programming and marketing  

 Are competitors identified? – Do we regularly record pricing for other similar 

organisations?  

 Is their behaviour monitored?  

Benchmarking 

The CIPFA benchmarking service is in place with 28 authorities currently subscribed. Other 

benchmarking services such as APSE and Housemark may be available. 

Within Charge Design  

 Is the charge design used to its full potential?  

 Are there missed opportunities?  

 Is charge design based on good use of market intelligence?  

Payment Methods 

In relation to methods of payment and convenience fees and charges for public services are 

being paid increasingly online or by phone.  Some examples in Worcester include: 

 Ringo – apps and direct phone payment for car parking  

 Garden waste – online payment by debit card 

 Leisure Centre Membership – direct debits. 

The services will continue to investigate modernisation of payment methods offered over the 

coming three year period to respond to customer requirements; competition and feedback; 

through annual service plans and transformation reviews.  

 

Page 26



 

 

Financial Context  

 Are subsidy levels set?  

 Which services provide the income?  

 What are the trends for charges?  

 What informs the decision?  

 Is benchmarking available and in place 

The percentage recovery rates vary considerably among services, and are reflected below where 

there is a calculation available.  It is recognised that there is further work required over the 

coming three year period to better understand cost recovery across service areas and ensure 

that expenditure and income budgets are set up to allow accurate analysis of cost recovery to 

be achieved. 

 

User data 
collection & 

analysis  

Competitor & 
alternative 

provider 
analysis 

Income levels 
targets & 

trend anaylsis 

Service 
delivery costs 

% recovery 
rates 

Rationale 

Fees and 
charges 

proposals 

Page 27



 

 

Fees and Charges Setting - Service Guide Proforma 

Service Area  

 

Document Control Created By: 

 

Complete By:   Created   

Last Updates:  Version  

 

S
e
c
ti

o
n

 1
 

 

Introduction – Enter Service Area Here 

 

This rational is in line with Council  policy for charging,  in  that  the  Council  aims  to optimise  income  

through  the  annual  review  of  fees  and  charges,  in  line  with  what  the market will  bear, what  is  

considered  can  reasonably  be borne  by users  of the  facilities  and where necessary the costs associated 

with providing that service. 

Xxx Service Area approach to fees and charges is that this is a discretionary / statutory service, which 

delivers the City Council Plan through: 

 List City Council plan area here with 1 sentence to explain how delivered 
 List City Council plan area here if there is a further area of delivery 

 
The charging objective is to be in the upper/median/lower area of charging for the service, based on: 

 Quality of service – is there a quality standard in place – externally verified? 
 Market demand -  are we sole supplier or is this a very competitive market 
 Do we aim to deliver a significant range of service or capital improvements or have we recently (last 5 

 

P
age 28



 

 

years) invested heavily in the service area 

 

Competition in this service area is xxxx add here headlines such as the following providers also deliver this 

service in Worcester City: 

 Private sector – how many providers deliver – 1 or 10+ put actual number 
 Educational sector – again put number 
 Public or Third Sector – again total number of charities or not for profit delivering this service in the 

area 
 

  P
age 29



 

 

 
 

Annual Income 

 

 

 

S
e
c
ti

o
n

 2
 

 

Enter here a bar chart with the service areas’ last 3 years total gross income – include a split if needed: 

E.g. Parking could be PCN; On Street and Off Street  

Work with finance if needed 

 

 

 

Income Target next year 

S
e
c
ti

o
n

 3
 

 

 

For example list here  

Total service income plus RPI at 2% for next year 

 

 

 

Assumptions 
E.G. Car Parking Income current year plus 2% £ 

Additional income - transformation prog target  £ 

Total target   

  

P
age 30



 

 

 
 

Income v Expenditure current year 

S
e
c
ti

o
n

 

4
  

Enter in table here total costs allocated against this income – it may not be possible for current year –Finance 

will be able to help 

 

Notes 

  Expenditure £ Notes  

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

  
Total  

 
   

  

P
age 31



 

 

 

 

% Recovery Rate current year 

 

S
e
c
ti

o
n

 5
 

 

 

This is only possible to calculate if we are able to allocate service expenditure against income 

 

Notes 

 

User Data current year 

S
e
c
ti

o
n

 6
 

 

Annual survey results re. satisfaction 

Annual survey results re. value for money 

View survey for Worcester if covering your service 

area 

National participation e.g. for sport / leisure 

Mention survey source for each figure with survey 

base (i.e. number of people responding to survey) 

 

 

Note here also if there are waiting lists e.g. for 

allotments; trade waste etc 

Mention if we have over provision of facilities e.g. 

parks or sports remember to count educational and 

voluntary sector provision and commercial  

Competition level or travel times if known from 

national data 

 

 

 

 

P
age 32



 

 

 

 

Rationale 

 

S
e
c
ti

o
n

 7
 

This service area rationale is aligned to Council  policy,  in  that  the  Council  aims  to optimise  income  through  the  

annual  review  of  fees  and  charges,  in  line  with  what  the market will  bear, what  is  considered  can  reasonably  be 

borne  by users  of the  facilities  and where necessary the costs associated with providing that service. 

Enter overall rationale in 1 or 2 sentences maximum for charging – our Corporate rationale is to be left in. 

Any charges here which are varying over the prevailing RPI for 2018/19 – 3.5% 

List any new charges here too 

 

 Name of Fee/Charge Current year Proposed next year Notes / New Charge 

    Change approach e.g.£x April 1 then £y Sept 1  

     

     

     

 

P
age 33



 

 

APPENDIX C 

 

Property acquisition investment criteria 

Projects which require the acquisition of assets and which meet the Treasury’s 

acceptable definitions for PWLB lending will need to take into account the cash 

outflows and inflows to ensure that they are financially viable. Property investments 

will be reviewed according to criteria set out in an evaluation spreadsheet which 

seeks to take into account all income and expenditure cashflows, using median 

case, best case and worst case scenarios for rent reviews, void periods and 

management and maintenance costs.  

The assessment will support acquisition where: 

 The projected cash flows result in a positive outcome over the lifetime of the 

project under all recognised scenarios 

 There is a positive return to the project over its lifetime 

 There is a positive return, including use of contingencies, over the first five 

years. 

Where the return to the project is in the form of a capital receipts, these will be 
considered for reinvestment in the project in the first instance to ensure overall 
viability. Surplus receipts will be taken to general capital financing. 
 
Non-financial risks will be assessed in accordance with the Council’s risk 
assessment procedures and a risk register compiled for each viable project that 
meets the qualification criteria established above and is in line with Treasury 
guidance.   
 
Where there are alternative options for acquisition, each option will be assessed as 

above and the highest-ranking opportunities will be recommended for investment. 

Two overarching criteria are also to be applied: 

 Does the proposal include opportunities for further local regeneration or 

enhanced services for target areas? 

 Does the project generate secondary income for Worcester, such as business 

rates? 

. 

 

Page 34



 

 
 

Report to: Income Generation Sub-Committee, 28th July 2021 
 

Report of: Corporate Director, Finance and Resources 
 

 
Subject: INCOME GENERATION STRATEGY 

 
1. Recommendation 
 

1.1 That the Sub-Committee adopt the revised Income Generation Strategy as 
the framework for delivering against approved income generation targets in 

the Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 

2. Background    
   

2.1 Like all other Local Authorities in the UK, Worcester City Council’s finances are in 

transition from a funding model based primarily on grants from central government 
to one based on locally-generated income. The withdrawal of central funding has 

significantly outstripped growth in other income over the last few years. Between 
2010/11 and 2014/15 Central Government funding fell from £8.193m to £4.998m. 
The Revenue Support Grant element of this has continued to decline, from £1.856m 

in 2015/16 to zero by 2019/20. 

2.2 From 2019/20 onwards, funding for services has been almost entirely from business 

rates, Council Tax and income that the Council can generate from its operations, 
including commercial activities. To support this, the Income Generation Strategy was 
developed alongside an annual Income and Efficiency Plan. The existing plan includes 

elements of increased income of £160k per year to be achieved from income-
generation activities. This is in addition to increases in budgeted income over the 

past three years.  

2.3 A Commercial Strategy, approved by Council in February 2018 and revised in 2021, 
sets out the means by which this will be achieved and aligns income generation 

activities with the City Plan and the Council’s wider strategic objectives. The Income 
Generation Strategy complements the Commercial Strategy. It identifies proposed 

sources of income, defines the approach to setting targets for income recovery levels 
and proposes specific tasks to achieve those targets. 
 

2.4 The revised Income Generation Strategy for 2021 - 2024 takes into account progress 
since the first iteration, and a revised version published in January 2020 to date 

which recognised the transition from the Transformation Programme to the new 
Income and Efficiency Plan. The strategic principles have been revised to reflect 
changes in strategy which are driven principally by: 

 
 The completion of the programme of income-generation activities set out in the 

initial plan 
 

Page 35 Agenda Item 6



 

 The transition from income budgets based on previous year’s outturns to 
progressive budget-setting designed to drive income performance 

 
 The need to strengthen budget setting for commercial assets and income 

generating activities so that there is greater alignment between costs and 

benefits of proposals 
 

 Guidance published by HM Treasury which prohibits the use of PWLB loans where 
council has plans to purchase assets for income-generation purposes. The focus 
has shifted to assets that are acquired for regeneration and other purposes and 

to maximising the value of existing holdings. 
 

3. Preferred Option  
 

3.1 That the Sub-committee adopts the Income Generation Strategy to establish key 
aims and targets for increasing income.   

4. Alternative Options Considered 

 
4.1 That the Council continues to generate income for services outside a defined 

strategic approach. As indicated in the strategy itself, the Council is already 
successful in generating income and has increased the level income from activities in 
recent years. However, the lack of a defined approach means that the process 

remains ad hoc and focussed on individual services rather than driving forward the 
Council’s ambitions as a whole. The development of a strategy enables all of the 

initiatives to be captured so that targets can be set and overall progress measured. 

5. Implications 
 

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications 
The draft budget for 2021/22 includes the assumption of £160k increase in income 

per year in the Income and Efficiency plan by 2024. The Income Strategy is designed 
to ensure that this increased income is achieved. Other potential sources of income 
will be identified and potential income streams arising from these will be 

incorporated into future medium term financial plans. 
 

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications 
Changes to the Prudential Code on Capital Finance published in 2018 and subsequent 
Treasury Guidance on the use of PWLB loans restrict the actions that the Council can 

take to generate income from investment. The Income Generation Strategy has been 
developed to ensure that the Council complies with the revised guidance. A formal 

Capital Strategy and Investment Strategy, which are complementary to the 
Commercial and Income Generation Strategies, were published as part of the budget 
setting process for 2019/20 which reflected this guidance and are updated annually. 

 
5.3 Risk Implications 

Overall risks relating to the Council’s finances are reviewed regularly as part of the 
Corporate Risk Register and reported to the Policy and Resources Committee through 
the iterations of the MTFP. Income levels are reported quarterly to the Sub-

committee and any risks to the Council’s finances arising from changes in income 
levels will be considered at the quarterly review meetings. 

 
 

 

Page 36



 

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications 
The Strategy will form part of the suite of strategies published or under development 

that are designed to implement the City Plan and support the delivery of the 
Council’s objectives within the context of its corporate values. 
 

5.5 Equality Implications 
None arising directly from this report. 

 
5.6 Human Resources Implications 

None arising directly from this report. 

 
5.7 Health and Safety Implications 

None arising directly from this report 
 

5.8 Economic, Social and environmental Implications 
The Council can use its powers to engage directly in shaping the City and supporting 
initiatives which contribute to the health and wellbeing of Worcester’s residents, 

businesses and visitors. These powers can be used both to engage in activities which 
in themselves generate income, such as loans to third parties to support service 

delivery, and to use income generated by services to support other activities and 
capital developments. 
 

 
 

Ward(s):   All 
Contact Officer: Shane Flynn – Tel: 01905 722536 

Email shane.flynn@worcester.gov.uk 

Background Papers: None  
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT v 1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INCOME GENERATION STRATEGY 
2021 – 2024 

 

DRAFT 
July 2021 

Page 39 Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



DRAFT v 1 

 

Introduction  

Like all other Local Authorities in the UK, Worcester City Council’s finances have 

been in transition from a funding model based primarily on grants from central 

government to one based on locally-generated income. However, there have been a 

number of changes since this strategy was published in November 2018 and revised 

in January 2020: 

 The introduction of a range of capital funds, such as the Culture Development 

Fund, the Future High Streets Fund and the Towns Fund 

 The Treasury has revised the conditions for the use of PWLB loans, which 

prevent the Council from borrowing to finance investment in property 

 The Covid-19 disruption has had a significant impact on the macro-economy 

which will have a long-term effect on the development of the High Street and 

local economic growth.   

From 2019/20, funding for services has been almost entirely from business rates, 

Council Tax and income that the Council can generate from its operations or lever in 

from investments and partnerships.  

To address the withdrawal of grant income, this Strategy was developed to support 

the Council’s Commercial Strategy and alongside an annual Income and Efficiency 

Plan. The existing Income and Efficiency plan includes elements of increased 

income of £160k per year to be achieved from income-generation activities, as 

shown in Table 1 overleaf. This is in addition to increases in budgeted income over 

the past three years since the plan was introduced. The proposals in the plan are 

subject to detailed reports to Committees before implementation. 

 

Page 40



DRAFT v 1 

 

Table 1 

As per commercial strategy 

Project Title 
2021/22 

£'000 
Notes 

2022/23 

£'000 
Notes 

2023/24 

£'000 

The Guildhall - room hire income 5  Continued growth in room 

hire and events income 

5  ditto 5  

Advertising Income 20  Car Park Advertising - 4 sites    

Bereavement income 5  New E Commerce provision 

with online shop 

5  ditto 10  

Trade Waste collections 20  Trade Waste 3.5% growth       

Garden Waste collections 30  Garden waste 8% growth       

Pitch hire income 0    17  Increase in number of 

bookings 

  

Allotments income 0    8  Review of charges   

Museums income 0    6  Review admissions charges.   

Museums income 4  Review VAT position to take 

advantage of cultural 

exemption and Museums 

benefits 

19  Increase income from café, 

room hire, weddings and 

ticketed events 

  

Total 84    60    15  

 

P
age 41



DRAFT v 1 

 

The Council has limited control over business rates and Council Tax income. These 

represent relatively stable income streams, although there are significant risks 

relating to business rates. In particular, business rates baselines are due to be re-set 

at some stage, according to the provisions in the legislation which introduced the 

current business rates system. This will significantly affect the level of income that 

the Government allows the Council to retain from this source.   

Council Tax is more stable but can only be uplifted annually within parameters set by 

Government, whilst the Council Tax base can only grow if sufficient sites can be 

made available for home building and developers are able – and willing – to bring 

projects forward. New Homes Bonus is a related element of funding which will 

continue to be paid until 2022/23. The Government has stated an intention to reform 

this method of funding but it remains dependent on local circumstances and the 

Council’s capacity to promote and support housing development within the 

Worcester City boundary. 

Costs can be reduced to compensate for the loss of income. The Council has 

reduced budgeted net spend on services from £12.840m in 2010/11 to £11.975m in 

2021/22 despite 10 years of wage and price inflation. However, a base level of 

expenditure is needed to meet the cost of statutory services such as refuse 

collection, planning and development control and licensing while a core infrastructure 

is required to support services and the public through Revenues and Benefits 

management, legal, financial and democratic functions along with ICT, asset 

management and Human Resources management. The Council has also committed 

to the provision of non-statutory services in order to meet the outcomes set out in the 

City Plan. These include income-generating services such as leisure and cultural 

events and garden waste and trade waste collection.    

The Council – if it is to remain committed to providing the full range of services at the 

level of standards expected by local communities – will be increasingly reliant on 

income from these and other sources. To do this it needs to establish the working 

practices of a commercial organisation. The Commercial Strategy (2018, revised 

2021) sets out the means by which this will be achieved and aligns income 

generation activities with the City Plan and the Council’s wider strategic objectives.   

This Income Generation Strategy is designed to complement the Commercial 

Strategy. It identifies proposed sources of income, sets targets for income recovery 

levels and proposes specific tasks to achieve those targets. 

A set of strategic principles have been developed within this strategy. There are 

summarised in Box 1 overleaf. 

  

Page 42



DRAFT v 1 

 

Box 1: Strategic principles: 

1: Income projections will be based on prior year data derived from at least three 

previous years, where this is not subject to unusual events, and subsequent annual 

data will be added to support income estimates.  

2: The Income Contingency Reserve will be set at £0.5m until the risk profile 

changes to indicate that it should be revised and the Business Rates Risk Reserve 

will be set at the loss of two year’s growth on the business rates baseline, currently 

£1.4m, with allowance for potential valuation appeals. 

3: Medium-term income targets will be set for non-operational assets to ensure that 

they provide a sustainable income, including sufficient revenues to provide for future 

maintenance needs. 

4: For future income generating activities, costs of undertaking the activity will be 

identified and allocated against income budgets so that the extent of any recovery 

against overheads can be determined. 

5: As part of the utilisation of the Development Fund, aim to ensure that the income 

to be derived from the scheme is sufficient to cover the borrowing costs to mitigate 

the Council’s financial risk.  

6: Expand the short- and medium-term investment portfolio to maximise the value of 

cash holdings and consider self-funding housing development opportunities. 

7: A marketing strategy for the Council’s services will be developed to promote 

income generating functions alongside promotion of the City as a tourist destination 

and as a thriving location for residents and businesses.        

 

Page 43



DRAFT v 1 

 

Income sources 

The Council has recognised the need to support service delivery by generating 

income for a number of years and has stated its intention to increase income in the 

2017/18 budget papers published in November 2016: 

“The proposed approach to generating additional income will be on a project basis 
with three key areas of activity: 
 
i. Updating our income budgets to ensure they reflect the current levels of activity 
and the actual income generated. It is anticipated that this could deliver an extra 
£100k of income budget p.a. 
 
ii. Increasing income on our existing income activities through a review of 
compliance, enforcement and a targeted business case approach to review the 
potential for income growth. The business case approach will also be applied to 
smaller scale new income opportunities, associated with or complementary to our 
existing activities. It is anticipated that this could deliver an extra £200k-£300k 
of income p.a. 
 
iii. In the medium term, the development of two-three ‘big ticket’ income items that 
generate more significant levels of income through, for example: better utilisation 
of our asset base either as a stand alone or through partnership working; the 
development of sites for housing, business opportunities or leisure activities to 
encourage economic growth and a healthy and more active population; and the 
further development of the tourism offer through our heritage assets and 
partnership approach.” 

Current income streams are shown in Appendix A. These amount to £8.5m in 

2021/22, or 37% of budgeted service costs. This represents an increase of £651k 

over 2017/18 (the year this strategy was first published), which is an above-inflation 

increase of 8.2%. Clearly, income from bereavement services and car parking are 

dominant strands but opportunities exist to strengthen income from other existing 

sources, such as trade and garden waste collection, where the Council is able to 

influence demand through targeted approaches. Other income includes £434k in 

respect of the Freedom Leisure contract and £1.113m for property rentals which are 

not included above. 

This Strategy sets out the means by which the three approaches set out above will 

continue to be achieved. 

 

Approach 1: Updating income budgets 

As indicated above, there has been a growth in budgeted income since 2017/18. 

Hence the process of aligning budgets more closely to expected income levels is 

Page 44



DRAFT v 1 

 

already in place and will continue into future years. There are two issues to consider 

within this strategy: 

 What is the right level of budget to set? 

 What actions can be taken to mitigate risks to demand led budgets, where 

short-term income reductions cannot be controlled? 

The answer to these questions lies partly in reviewing past income trends and partly 

in improving forecasting techniques. 

In February 2018 the Income Generation Sub-committee received a report regarding 

income baselines. This showed that a number of sources of income had grown or 

declined over time but the budget had not changed to reflect this. In simple terms, if 

the budgets for 2019/20 were set to the 2018/19 actual income levels, the total 

expected income for 2019/20 would be £589,000 higher than the previous year. 

The Income Strategy introduced an approach for income budget setting based on 

analysis of actual income over three years and with an expectation that income 

budgets would reflect growth against this average unless there is a rationale for 

varying from this principle. This has resulted in reversal of the position, with budgets 

generally being more progressive. Table 1 overleaf shows the average income for 

the periods up to 31 March 2020 (i.e. before Covid disruption) and the 2021/22 

budgets with commentary on the reasons for the variance.  

Page 45



DRAFT v 1 

 

Table 1: 2021/22 budgeted income compared to average actual income (pre-Covid-19)  

Income generating service Average 
(£000) 

Budget 
(£000) 

Difference 
(£000) 

Difference 
(%) 

Comments 

Bereavement services 1,788  1,590  - 198  -11% Reducing budgets over two years to recognise impact of Fladbury 

Development Management 677  710  33  5%   

Trade Waste 633  836  203  32% 
Change to Pay by Weight and new College contract plus anticipated 
growth from capacity to recycle waste 

Garden Waste 395  491  96  24% Seeking to retain business post Covid 

Other EO income 333  181  - 152  -46% loss of jetting work for County and repricing of street sweepings 
contract 

Bulky Waste 27  25  - 2  -7%  Saturday skips have not been in place so allowance made for 
reduction on their return 

Off Street parking 3,245  3,338  93  3% Expected income is actually £600k less than budgeted, offset by 
transfer from reserves 

PCN income 452  520  68  15% Increase in enforcement resources 

Guildhall Lettings 69  94  25  36% Growth from weddings and new events…Gin festival, courtyard café 
etc. 

Licensing 346  361  15  4%   

Joint Museums Service 131  134  3  2%   

Property Income 578  1,263  685  119% Major purchases impact from 20/21 

P
age 46



DRAFT v 1 

 

 

The impact of disruption caused by the COvid-19 pandemic has obscured the 

averages on which income budgets should be based. Therefore it is proposed that 

2020/21 income is ignored for the purposes of this strategy. Otherwise the principle 

of basing income budgets on at least three years previous actual income levels is 

retained.  

Strategy 1: 

Income projections will be based on prior year data derived from at least three 

previous years, where this is not subject to unusual events, and subsequent annual 

data will be added to support income estimates.  

For the main income streams, profiled budgets are now being used. These use data 

from the past three years to plot month by month changes in income patterns. 

Hence, if income is stronger in the summer and weaker in the winter, such trends 

can be taken into account when estimating the likely outcome for the year. This 

means that by the end of the second quarter, likely year-end outturns can be 

projected with a greater degree of certainty.  

The trend data shows that while some income streams have expanded in the past 

four years, the overall picture is mixed, with major income streams in particular 

shrinking rather than expanding. This suggests that current budgets for income need 

to be brought more in line with actuals. Figure 1 shows trends over time and 

demonstrates how income from property investments has compensated for reducing 

income in other streams like bereavement services.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



DRAFT v 1 

 

Figure 1: Income trends 2017/18 to 2020/21 (£000) 

 

Note: 2017/18 data for Joint museums and Property Service not available 

The impact of the disruption caused by Covid-19 can clearly be seen in the data for 

202/21 and highlights the potential exposure to the Council’s finances of relying on 

locally-generated income. With longer-term projections, the level of risk increases. 

To mitigate this, contingencies are required to help manage reductions in income in 

the short term until strategies can be put in place to re-secure the income stream. 

Two reserves have been created for this purpose, as follows: 

Income Contingency Reserve 

This reserve has a balance of £494,621 at 1 April 2021. The reserve was established 

to mitigate the impact of sudden events which could radically affect income levels, 

such as flooding, which could close the Council’s car parks for some time, or 

catastrophic failure of key equipment such as a cremator which could result in loss of 

service provision at the crematorium. The approach consisted of a smaller reserve 

and an annual contingency until the budget-setting process for 2018/19 when the 

contingency element was rolled into the reserve. The reserve will, therefore, remain 

static at approximately £500k until income risk profiles change. 

Localised Business Rates Reserve 

This reserve has a balance of £12.258m as 1 April 2021, of which £9.326m is 

required to meet an underlying deficit arising from Government business rates relief 

schemes. The available balance is therefore £2.932m. 

£0

£500

£1,000

£1,500

£2,000

£2,500

£3,000

£3,500

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Off Street
parking
Breavement
services
Development
Management
Trade Waste

PCN income

Garden Waste

Other EO
income
Licensing

Guildhall
Lettings
Bulky Waste

Joint Museums
Service
Property Income

Page 48



DRAFT v 1 

 

The purpose of the reserve is to mitigate significant reductions in business rates 

such as that caused by the reclassification of GP Surgeries in 2015/16 which 

reduced income from business rates by £168k per year. Worcester City Council is a 

member of a business rates pool with other councils in Worcestershire. This in itself 

provides some assurance against risks as some of the impact of reductions in rates 

income is spread across all the pool members. 

The Government has stated an intention to review business rates baselines in 2021 

which will assess how much of the rates collected by the Council it will be allowed to 

retain and how much will be redistributed to other authorities. Currently, of the £41m 

collected by the Council, £2.615m is estimated by the Government to be Worcester 

City Council’s share. This is the baseline funding level. The Council is also entitled to 

retain 50% of any growth above that amount. For 2020/21 that is estimated to be 

£0.725m. The MTFP allows a small growth against this figure for each year. 

The business rates reset will reduce the level of growth that the Council is allowed to 

retain. The full extent of that risk is that the whole of the growth amount is taken for 

redistribution, resulting in a £0.7m pressure in the annual budget. The Council’s risk 

reserve should, therefore, be set at that level to allow for two year’s mitigation 

against the reduction, thereby allowing time for alternative strategies to be developed 

to address the shortfall over the longer term.  

In addition, the Council took the opportunity in 2020 to release provisions included in 

the Business Rates Pool against appeals to business rates valuations by the 

Valuation Office. This released approximately £2m into the business rates risk 

reserve which is being retained on a risk-assessed basis pending the lodging of 

appeals in due course.       

Strategy 2 

The Income Contingency Reserve will be set at £0.5m until the risk profile changes 

and the Business Rates Risk Reserve will be set at the loss of two year’s growth on 

the business rates baseline, currently £1.4m, with allowance for potential valuation 

appeals. 

 

Approach 2 - Increasing income from existing and complementary 

activities 

Budget alignment is the process by which growth in income is captured and 

translated into forecast net budgets within the MTFP. However, ensuring growth 

requires strengthening gains from existing sources and developing new income-

generating opportunities. This is the concept of ‘commercialisation’ which is 

developed in the Commercial Strategy. 

Page 49



DRAFT v 1 

 

There have been a number of activities designed to identify opportunities to increase 

income from existing sources or identify new ones. These include: 

 a ‘blue sky thinking’ exercise following the November 2016 proposal 

 

 the creation of a small projects programme which included proposals that 

would generate new income 

 

 creation of a Riverside Task & Finish Group to explore commercial 

opportunities 

 

 requests for suggestions as part of consultation on the 2018/19 budget, which 

elicited 236 responses. 

In 2018 an Income Generation Co-ordinator was appointed to sift the various 

proposals and identify those that could be taken forward with a reasonable prospect 

of success. This identified some short-term proposals or quick wins which could be 

implemented relatively quickly. These are shown in figure 2: 

Figure 2: Short and Medium Term income generating projects 

 

Each of these projects have been developed and, with the exception of proposals to 

sell archaeology services, all have shown periods of income growth between 2018 

and 2020. Opportunities still to explore further are: 

 Sponsorship – including advertising on the Council’s website and advertising 

in car parks 

Page 50



DRAFT v 1 

 

 

 Expanding the solar PV array at SMG to support new electronic charging 

points and installing arrays at other locations for similar purposes 

 

 Maximising return from Council assets. 

In respect of the latter, a review is being undertaken of the Council’s non-operational 

assets under the Asset Management Plan. This is designed to assess whether the 

Council should retain these assets or dispose of them for a capital receipt. Where 

the decision is to retain the asset, the opportunities for increasing income will be 

taken into account and medium-term targets for rental income performance will be 

set. This will help to ensure that the assets retain their market value over time as well 

as providing a sustainable income stream. 

Strategy 3 

Medium-term income targets will be set for non-operational assets to ensure that 

they provide a sustainable income, including sufficient revenues to provide for future 

maintenance needs.  

In all cases, the income arising from the activity should be sufficient to make a 

contribution to overheads as well as cover running costs. For each of the budget 

streams, the extent of the impact on overheads is difficult to assess as the full costs 

of delivering the function are not consistently lined up against the income received. 

The marginal gain from increasing resources to bring in additional income is not, 

therefore, easy (or possible) to quantify. Consideration of the fees to set when 

developing income streams will need to take into account the costs of provision and 

a pro-forma has been developed to enable this. This is provided in the Commercial 

Strategy. 

Strategy 4 

For future income generating activities, costs of undertaking the activity will be 

identified and allocated against income budgets so that the extent of any recovery 

against overheads can be determined. 

 

Approach 3: New major income streams 

In addition to immediate opportunities, the Income Co-ordinator identified longer term 

projects which will require some investment and for which some development time is 

required before income streams can be anticipated. These are shown in Figure 3. 

 

 

Page 51



DRAFT v 1 

 

Figure 3: Longer-term project proposals 

 

Progress on City Plan Initiatives 

The Council Lottery has been implemented. For other schemes, an element of 

funding was set aside from the City Plan during the 2018/19 budget and as part of 

the subsequent year-end closedowns to create start-up or seedcorn funding for 

development. These are shown in Table 2 overleaf along with commentary on work 

to date and future developments:     

Page 52



DRAFT v 1 

 

 

Table 2: Budget allocations for major schemes 

Committee Indicative 

allocation 
(£000) 

Purpose Progress 

Planning and 
Economic 
Development 

500 To support housing initiatives other than social housing 
including: 
- Helping people onto the housing ladder 
- purchasing vacant and redundant buildings to return 

them into use 
the establishment of a Housing Development Company 

Budget reallocated in 2020/21 budget to support a 
variety of new initiatives, some of which support 
income generation through increased tourism and 
visitors to Council facilities. 

Planning and 
Economic 
Development 

100 To support business development initiatives Deployed through the Skills Strategy and Business 
Support grants scheme. 
 
Wide range of support provided through Covid-19 
grants subsequently. 

Communities 500 To increase capacity to provide housing for vulnerable 
tenants through a suitable model such as: 
- dispersed family units  
- design & build schemes 
- a joint venture with a provider 

Temporary accommodation facilities at Bromyard 
Road and Oldbury Road have been developed and 
are reducing the costs of bed and breakfast 
accommodation while providing rental income to 
offset management costs. 
 
Communities Committee and Income Generation 
Committee have commissioned a study on Council-
led housing provision which has the potential to 
generate income through mixed-tenure 
developments  

Communities 100 To appoint Private Sector Housing Officers 
(investigational), for two years on a fixed term contract 
to: 
- assist with processing HMO licence applications 

The enforcement work of the Officers has achieved 
an income of £29,000 from civil penalty charges as 
well as increased income from licensing previously 
unlicensed properties. 

P
age 53



DRAFT v 1 

 

- investigate un-licenced HMO's 
- investigate tenant complaints 
- investigate empty properties 
- work with Planning Policy to advise landlords on the 
Article 4 Directive 
- investigate rented properties which are below E rated 
from EPC assessments. 

 
Further income of £900k derived from Green Home 
Gant (GHG) Local Authority Delivery scheme and 
other opportunities for funding being considered 
such as Sustainable Warmth competition   

Communities 100 To fund a fixed term post to provide marketing and 
promotional time to communicate the range of health 
and wellbeing, sport, physical activity, play and 
community programmes in the city 

Implemented through a range of activities to 
promote and improve health and wellbeing. 
 

Policy & resources 
(year end) 

200 To support development of leisure facilities to 
international standard  

International standard hockey pitches to open in 
autumn 2021. 
 
Tennis courts renewed and contract with Freedom 
Leisure introduced to maximise usage. 
 
Feasibility studies on Futsal and all-weather pitch 
at Perdiswell complete. 
 
Worcester FA supported to provide facility for 
Worcester FC at Claines Lane. 

Environment 300 To allocate funding for the development of the riverside 
to: 
- Give greater identity to the area 
- Improve the visitor experience of Worcester 
- Provide more and better information and signage 
- Improve access 
- Improve landscaping 

Riverside Park project established and range of 
enhancements agreed. Design work undertaken for 
signage and furniture. Café relet and pop-up facility 
located on riverside at Copenhagen Street. 
  
Project has been incorporated into Towns Fund 
proposals. 

P
age 54



DRAFT v 1 

 

Property Investment 

A key component of the longer-term proposals was procuring sites and property 

which have the potential for development as well as income generation. A 

Development Fund was established in July 2018 to enable borrowing for these 

purposes and, in total, 18 sites have been considered as potential investment 

properties. Two properties were considered to have a suitable risk profile and were 

purchased, resulting in annual gross income of approximately £970,000. 

The report to the Policy and Resources Committee that established the Development 

Fund emphasised the need for property investments to have a policy, as well as a 

commercial aim: 

To progress its intentions under the October 2016 Cabinet report…the Council 

will need to ensure that either it invests existing resources in commercial activity 

(i.e. does not enter into borrowing for the purpose) and/or ensures that the 

investment is not solely for the purposes of generating profit. Currently, local 

authorities can purchase land, either within or outside the local authority area, 

‘for the purposes of....the benefit, improvement or development of their area’ 

under Section 120 of the 1972 Local Government Act. The purchase and 

development of both land and building assets ‘to encourage economic growth 

and a healthy and more active population’ can be done under the general power 

of competence as these form part of the stated intentions in the approved City 

Plan.  

Since that date, HM Treasury has consulted on proposals to limit access to PWLB 

finance to any Local Authorities that intend to acquire assets primarily for the 

purposes of making a return on their investment. The result of the consultation and 

subsequent guidance is that the Council can no longer access PWLB loans for this 

purpose. However, as the Development Fund was intended to support development 

opportunities it remains available and the methodology for selecting schemes to 

support through borrowing remains in place.  

Since 2018 the Council has been successful in securing significant funding income in 

respect of four major schemes. Each of these requires an element of match funding 

or a contribution from the Council which, in some cases, may require borrowing. The 

components are set out in Table 3: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



DRAFT v 1 

 

Table 3: Funding income secured and potential Council contribution   

Scheme Fund Approved 
funding 
(£m) 

Council 
contribution 
(£m) 

The Arches Worcester Cultural Development 
Fund 

3.729 1.670  
 
(of which 
£300k from 
City) 

Angel Place and surrounds Future High Streets 
Fund 

17.928 11.328 

Building Block 
E-charge points at SMG 
4 Copenhagen Street 

Accelerated Towns 
Fund 

1.000 0.140 

Town Investment Programme Towns Fund 19.600 29.006 
 
(of which 
£7.356m 
from WCC) 

Green Homes Grant GHG Local Authority 
Delivery scheme 

0.922 0 

Note: match funding for Towns Fund based on original bid for £27.89m and may 

therefore be reduced 

Each of these programmes has the potential to increase income for the Council, 

either in the form of revenue, which can be used in part to offset salary costs or 

borrowing, or capital receipts. Capital receipts have a revenue impact in reducing the 

need for future borrowing and therefore borrowing costs. This impact is only 

beneficial, however, if the capital receipt is greater than the initial outlay, thereby 

producing a return on the investment. An example of this is the Council’s investment 

of £500k in the Sixways development. As each property is completed and let, the 

Council receives a capital receipt which can then be applied to avoid borrowing costs 

for future schemes such as those shown in Table 3. 

An alternative is to lend to a property developer in order to unlock a potential develop 

in return for an income which covers the cost of the borrowing and mitigates, to 

some extent, the Council’s risk of lending. Three schemes have been supported 

through these means whereby the interest applied is greater than the PWLB lending 

rate at the time of the loan. It is important to recognise that receipts from such loans 

are also capital receipts, not revenue receipts so do not produce a revenue income 

stream but have a revenue impact by reducing future borrowing costs. 

Strategy 5 

As part of the utilisation of the Development Fund, aim to ensure that the income to 

be derived from the scheme is sufficient to cover the borrowing costs to mitigate the 

Council’s financial risk.  

Page 56



DRAFT v 1 

 

Meanwhile, the Council is currently holding £15.5m in short term cash investments 

which generate a modest rate of return. In 2021/22 this is expected to be £55,000 at 

0.05%. There is potential to increase this income by transferring some of these funds 

into a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT), which can generate returns in the region 

of 2% to 3%. This is a low-risk form of property investment focused on investment in 

a mixed portfolio of commercial properties held in a pooled fund, similar to the 

Council’s existing investment in the CCLA Fund, and would diversify the Council’s 

investment portfolio. 

An opportunity remains to use PWLB loans to support Housing Development. As 

noted above, the Council has set aside £500k to explore opportunities for developing 

social housing and the Communities Committee has commissioned a research paper 

into this called Council-led Housing Development. The opportunity arises from this, 

and other asset acquisitions through, for example, the Future High Street Fund, for 

the Council to generate income sufficient to cover the costs of developing the 

schemes and an element to cover the Council’s risk. 

Strategy 6 

Expand the short- and medium-term investment portfolio to maximise the value of 

cash holdings and consider self-funding housing development opportunities. 

The other major schemes include some activities – such as moving ICT systems to 

cloud based approaches and establishing delivery companies – that will not in 

themselves generate income but will establish the basis for service improvements 

and reduced costs. These form part of the annual review of the Income and 

Efficiency Plan which focuses on achieving excellence in service delivery. Such 

schemes will, therefore be taken forward through that programme rather than 

through the Income Generation Strategy. 

 

Marketing 

The success of these major schemes and other aspects of the Income Generation 

Strategy will depend to some extent on effective marketing of services that generate 

income. A significant amount of marketing has taken place to promote the Guildhall 

as a venue which has had an impact in terms of increased income. Targeted 

marketing of Garden Waste has also had an impact and marketing of new Trade 

Waste services has taken place via the Council’s website. 

To support income generation, a more developed marketing strategy is needed to: 

 Identify key markets and potential customers 

 Establish timelines or bringing new services to market 

Page 57



DRAFT v 1 

 

 Create marketing and communication strategies in support of new and 

enhanced services 

 Establish target income levels and monitoring approaches to ensure delivery 

 Review risks and develop mitigating actions 

Marketing forms part of the role of a number of officers, including those within the 

Museums Service and Tourist Information Centre, where there are opportunities to 

share marketing resources across the Council’s heritage and visitor offer. In addition, 

the Tourism Strategy includes elements of promoting the City. 

The various capital scheme identified in this strategy also require elements of 

promotion to secure the benefits for the completed schemes. The Arches Worcester 

project includes a marketing resource which is needed to promote the festivals 

strand and the lettings strategy for the completed facilities.  

These various strands need to be brought together into a coherent marketing 

strategy for the Council and for its role in supporting the City to grow. The 

development of a marketing strategy for the Council will form a key component in the 

delivery of this Income Generation Strategy. 

Strategy 7 

A marketing strategy for the Council’s services will be developed to promote income 

generating functions alongside promotion of the City as a tourist destination and as a 

thriving location for residents and businesses.        

    

 

 

Page 58



 

 

Appendix A 

Income generating services 2021/22 compared to 2017/18 

Fees & Charges  

 Annual 

Budget 

2017/18       

Annual 

Budget 

2021/22 

   £000 £000 

Facilities - Room Letting Fees  (69) (90) 

Museums  0 (82) 

Revs & Bens - Court Fees/Summonses  (252) (252) 

 - Environmental Health and Licencing  (280) (361) 

 - Bereavement Services   (1,776) (1,590) 

 - Parking Income  (3,641) (3,900) 

Community Services  (5,697) (5,851) 

 - Garden Waste Collection  (341) (491) 

 - Trade Waste Collection  (638) (836) 

 - Open Spaces  (60) (58) 

 - Other Fees and Charges  (16) (25) 

Operational Services  (1,055) (1,410) 

 - Planning Application Fees  (353) (425) 

 - Local Land Charges  (193) (113) 

 - Pre-Application Fees  (39) (35) 

 - Permitted Development Fees  (2) (4) 

 - Other Fees and Charges  (25) (24) 

Development Management   (611) (600) 

Building Control - Fees  (110) (110) 

Housing - Licencing Income  (102) (152) 

Fees & Charges - Services  (7,896) (8,547) 

 

 

      

Page 59



 

 

   

Page 60



 

 
 

Report to: Income Generation Sub-Committee, 28th July 2021 
 

Report of: Corporate Director, Finance and Resources 
 

 
Subject: QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR 2021/22 

 
1. Recommendation 
 

1.1 That the Income Generation Sub-Committee notes the Council’s Quarter 1 
performance for 2021/22. 

 
2. Performance Reporting Framework 

 
2.1 A suite of Performance Scorecards have been developed providing a one page 

overview of priority projects, activities and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) under 

the functions of each committee. 
 

2.2 The Scorecards are supported by a more detailed appendix providing a brief 
narrative update for projects and activities and a visual representation of PIs in the 
form of run graphs or charts as applicable. This provides context in terms of 

progression, trends and seasonal variations to support reporting using RAG 
assessments (Red, Amber or Green). 

 
2.3 The Scorecard has been refreshed for 2021/22 with projects completed in the last 

financial year replaced with new projects as previously agreed by this committee. 

 
2.4 The Quarter 1 performance report for the Income Generation Sub-Committee is 

attached as Appendix 1.   
 

 

 
Ward(s):   All 

Contact Officer:   Jo Payne, Corporate Policy and Strategy Officer,  
   01905 722407,  
   Email: Joanna.payne@worcester.gov.uk  

Background Papers: None 

Page 61 Agenda Item 7

mailto:Joanna.payne@worcester.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix 1



2 
 

Income Generation Committee 

Performance Report 
 
 

Income Generation Projects and Actions 2021/22 
 
 

Action Status 

 Cancelled 

 Overdue; Neglected 

 Unassigned; Check Progress 

 Not Started; In Progress; Assigned 

 Completed 
 

  

 

Commercial Strategy delivery 

The Commercial Strategy is being revised in the light of the 
Treasury decision not to allow PWLB loans to be used for 

property acquisitions purely for the purposes of generating 
income. The revised strategy will be presented to the July 

Committee. 
 
There is one proposal still under consideration as a 

development asset. Estate surveyors have been appointed 
to assess the suitability of the site for development but have 

not been able to access the property because of the closure 
of a number of businesses at the site due to Covid 
restrictions. 

 
The Council has been award £18m for the Future High 

Street Fund proposals which will enable substantial 
investment which will provide a return over time. Two 

properties have been secured and a third has been agreed. 
 
The Towns Fund Bid has been awarded £19.6m. This is less 

than the original bid and a process of re-setting the scope 
for each proposal has been undertaken. A revised proposal 

must be submitted by September. The potential income that 
will arise from these projects will be assessed as part of the 
development of business cases during the autumn of 2021. 

Sponsor Shane Flynn 

Due Date 31-Mar-2022 

Original Due 

Date 

31-Mar-2022 

Current Status  

Expected 
Outcome  

 

Appendix 1 

Page 64



3 
 

 

Income Strategy Delivery 

Delivery against the income strategy continues to be 
affected by the Covid disruption and wider economic impact. 
There is a risk, for example, that income from car parking 

will not return to pre-2020 levels due to employees working 
remotely rather than travelling into the city centre and 

parking all day and from increased internet shopping. The 
latter will have a knock- on effect on business rates too. 
Budgeted Income from Bereavement Services has been 

reduced in line with expected loss of share of this business. 
 

The Income Strategy is being reviewed alongside the 
Commercial Strategy and will be presented to the 
Committee at its July meeting. 

Sponsor Shane Flynn 

Due Date 31-Mar-2022 

Original Due 
Date 

31-Mar-2021 

Current Status  

Expected 

Outcome  

 

 
 
 
 

Sports facilities 

Work on the International Hockey Centre has continued and  
it is now anticipated that the centre will be open in autumn 

of 2021. The pitches themselves have been laid and the 
work is now concentrating on the facilities. Arrangements 

are being made to agree the previously approved loan to 
the Joint venture from September as planned. 
 

A report on the potential uses of the worn-out five-a-side 
pitches adjacent to Perdiswell Leisure Centre will be 

provided during 2021. 

Sponsor Shane Flynn 

Due Date 31-Dec-2021 

Original Due 
Date 

31-Mar-2019 

Current Status  

Expected 
Outcome   

 

Development of Housing Enabling Strategy 

A draft procurement specification is currently being 
reviewed by officers and which will be shared with the 
Corporate Director (Operations, Homes & Communities) and 

the Chair & Vice Chair of Communities Committee for sign 
off in line with committee approved delegation. It is hoped 

to commence procurement during August 2021 with a view 
to commencing this piece of work during the Autumn. 

Sponsor Lloyd Griffiths 

Due Date 31-May-2022 

Original Due 
Date 

31-May-2022 

Current Status  

Expected 

Outcome   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 65



4 

Income Generation Key Performance Indicators 2021/22 
 

PI Status 

 Alert 

 Warning 

 OK 

 Unknown 

 Data Only 
 

 

Riverside - project related income 

 

Current Value £2,500 

Current Target £2,500 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

The income relates to the riverside café and sports facilities. 
 

Guildhall - project related income 

 

Current Value £6,000 

Current Target £16,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

Income from room hire. Significant shortfall against budget due to the pandemic, some 

events are now taking place albeit on a limited scale. 

Page 66



5 

 

Trade Waste collection - project related income 

 

Current Value £199,000 

Current Target £230,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

Income reduced as the lockdown is leading to businesses requiring fewer waste collections. It 

is now starting to pick up again. Re-opening of the university and rugby club will be a boost 
to income levels. 
 

Garden Waste collection - project related income 

 

Current Value £183,000 

Current Target £169,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

The new accounts opened last year have mostly been retained and income is exceeding 
budget which in itself assumed 8% growth. 
 

Property Investment Fund - project related income 

 

Current Value £222,911 

Current Target £225,700 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

The outstanding rent review has now been settled. However the effects of the pandemic 

resulted in this being slightly lower than assumed in the budget. 

Page 67



6 

 

Car Parks - income - key revenue streams 

 

Current Value £529,000 

Current Target £752,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

Income from car parks is significantly below budget due to the lockdown. However it was 

much higher in June as restrictions were gradually lifted. It remains to be seen how quickly it 
will settle down to a stable patter 
 

Bereavement - income - key revenue streams 

 

Current Value £386,000 

Current Target £429,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

Income exceeded budget in April but has fallen markedly in the following months as the 
pandemic has eased. 
 

Development Management - income - key revenue streams 

 

Current Value £143,000 

Current Target £170,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

Income has remained fairly strong despite the pandemic. Although currently below budget 

the pipeline of applications is positive. 

Page 68



7 

 

Neighbourhood - income - key revenue streams 

 

Current Value £42,000 

Current Target £29,000 

RAG  

Aim to Maximise 

The budget for 2021/22 was reduced as the County Council were planning to scale back their 

required service. This has not yet happened, hence income is above budget. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 71 Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 81 Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Commercial Strategy
	Appendix - Commercial Strategy revision 2020_21 - v2

	6 Income Generation Strategy
	Appendix - Income Strategy 2021 update

	7 Quarter 1 Performance Report For 2021/22
	202122 Q1 PerformanceReport IncG App.  Final

	10 Development Fund Proposal
	Exempt Report - Appendix


